Court of Appeals No. 31698-0

Supreme Court No. 91353-0

FILED

Jan 29, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Steven Lee Smith asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeal decision terminating review, designated in Part II of this petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeal unpublished decision filed December 30, 2014. A copy of the Court's decision is attached as an appendix. This petition for review is timely.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Before admitting evidence of other crimes or wrongs under ER 404(b), the trial court is required to conduct an analysis on the record. Did the trial court commit reversible error by admitting, pursuant to ER 404(b), evidence of alleged drug trafficking and gunrunning for the purpose of proving Mr. Smith knowingly possessed a stolen weapon?
- 2. An element of possession of a stolen firearm requires proof beyond a reasonable doubt that the accused knowingly possess a stolen firearm. It is axiomatic that the State must prove the firearm is a stolen firearm.

Under Washington law, must the State produce some tangible identification factor to establish that the particular firearm is in fact stolen?

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Steven Smith was charged and convicted of seven counts of unlawful possession of a firearm and one count of possession of a stolen firearm. CP 110-113. Drug charges were dismissed before trial. RP 54.

The State sought admission of testimony by Charles Lloyd to establish the High Point rifle was a stolen weapon and Mr. Smith possessed it, knowing it was stolen. CP 103-105; RP 55;58. The State assured the court Lloyd's testimony would be limited to the gun charges. It explained Lloyd could testify that Mr. Smith owed money, was having difficulty paying off a debt of \$2,400, and was working to pay it down by providing approximately 2000 guns. RP 55-57. Lloyd was not to testify the alleged reason for the debt was because Smith allegedly owed money to drug dealers. RP 56-57.

The State added that Lloyd would testify that Smith had purchased stolen weapons in the recent past and that one day earlier, Smith and he had driven around with stolen weapons in Smith's car. RP 57-58.

Defense counsel objected to the testimony about the alleged debt as only seven guns were retrieved, and two of those belonged to other people. Counsel also objected because the prejudicial impact significantly outweighed the probative value: Mr. Smith would be unfairly portrayed as a trafficker in stolen firearms, something he was not charged with by the State. RP 65. The court admitted the testimony, but did not conduct an analysis on the record of either the prejudicial impact or whether the State had shown by a preponderance of the evidence that the acts had occurred. RP 72.

In its unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeal excused the failure of the trial court to address the two factors on the record, holding: "If the record shows that the trial court adopted one of the parties' express argument as to the purpose of the evidence and that party's weighing of probative and prejudicial value, then the trial court's failure to conduct its full analysis on the record is not reversible error." *Slip Op. at 15.* The Court excused the fact that the State never proved by a preponderance of the evidence that the misconduct actually occurred and the court did not address it either. *Slip Op.* 14-16.

During opening statements, despite the State's earlier assurances that drug dealing would <u>not</u> be raised at trial, State's counsel made the following statement: "He [Mr. Lloyd] will tell you about his dealings with Mr. Smith — They have a history together. He will [tell] you that he dealt drugs for Mr. Smith, drugs provided by Mr. Smith." RP 172. Defense counsel objected out of the presence of the jury about testimony regarding dealing drugs. Counsel argued such testimony must be analyzed under ER 404(b). RP 204. The court overruled the objection without analysis. RP 205.

During trial, the State elicited testimony from Lloyd that he sold drugs for Mr. Smith. RP 250. Lloyd went on to testify he learned that Smith owed money to his drug dealer and had an arrangement to pay it off by supplying the individual with guns. The court sustained only the objection to owing money to the drug dealer. RP 253.

In its unpublished opinion the Court of Appeals agreed that the trial court committed error when it failed to conduct any of the required ER 404(b) analysis regarding the alleged sale of drugs.

Slip Op. at 19. However, it went on to rule it was unlikely the erroneous admission unfairly prejudiced Mr. Smith because Smith

had already admitted he provided 4 g of methamphetamine in exchange for the allegedly stolen firearm. It went on: "Evidence of other drug sales would, therefore, unlikely alter the jury's view of Smith's character." *Slip Op.* at 19.

On appeal, Mr. Smith also challenged the sufficiency of the evidence that the High-Point rifle found in his possession was a stolen firearm. The State's evidence consisted of officer testimony that a High Point model rifle had been reported stolen about six weeks earlier. The State had no serial number and the supposed rightful owner of the High Point rifle was not identified and did not testify. The State was not allowed to produce the police report because of failure to provide timely discovery. RP 84-89.

In its opinion, the Court of Appeals held that the circumstantial evidence was sufficient to establish the rifle as stolen. Slip Op. 22-23.

V. ARGUMENT

The considerations which govern the decision to grant discretionary review are set forth in RAP 13.4(b). Petitioner believes this Court should accept review because the decision by the Court of Appeals wrongly concluded the evidentiary errors were

harmless and wrongly concluded the evidence was sufficient to sustain a conviction for possession of a stolen firearm.

A. The Evidentiary Errors Were Not Harmless And Require Reversal And A New Trial.

ER 404(b) prohibits evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts "to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith." To admit uncharged crimes under the rule, the trial court must find by a preponderance of the evidence that the charged acts occurred, identify the purpose for admitting the evidence, find the evidence is relevant for that purpose, and balance the probative and prejudicial effect. *In re Det. of Coe*, 175 Wn.2d 482, 493, 286 P.3d 29 (2012). The trial court must conduct the analysis on the record. *State v. Foxhoven*, 161 Wn.2d 168,175, 163 P.3d 786 (2007).

As the Court pointed out in its opinion, if the trial court does not conduct its own analysis, but instead adopts one of the parties' express arguments, it is not reversible error, under *State v. Asaeli,* 150 Wn.App. 543, 576 n.34, 208 P.3d 1136 (2009). However, the Court erred when it added that even if neither the trial court nor the State addressed the preponderance of the evidence factor, the error was harmless. *Slip Op.* at 14-15.

In Asaeli the Court of Appeals found the trial court abused its discretion in admitting gang association evidence as the State failed to establish by a preponderance of the evidence that the group was a gang. Asaeli, 150 Wn.App. at 577.

Here, neither the court nor the State even addressed the factor of preponderance of the evidence. The entirety of the evidence was based on statements made by Lloyd. Apart from the fact that there was no corroboration about Mr. Smith owing anyone any money, the statement about a \$2,400 debt being repaid by supplying between 1,000 and 2,000 guns to the creditor strains credulity. ¹ This is especially so, since a total of 7 guns were recovered and two of those did not belong to Mr. Smith.

Lloyd was also to testify that he and Smith had ridden around town with a car full of weapons, some of which were stolen weapons one day before the search. RP 254. However, when officers searched the vehicle, there was but one weapon, exactly where Smith told officers to find it. There was no evidence of any other weapons and no explanation by Lloyd of where they were.

¹ This would mean that each weapon was valued between \$1 and \$2 each. The High Point rifle alone was purchased for \$50 and 4 grams of methamphetamine. The cost per gram was not presented as evidence.

Lastly, Lloyd was to testify that the individual who supplied the High Point Rifle, who was neither a witness or defendant, had previously supplied stolen guns and Smith knew they were stolen. In *Trickler*, the court concluded on review that evidence was more prejudicial than probative because it allowed the State to prove that a defendant *must have known* a credit card was stolen because he was in possession of numerous other allegedly stolen credit cards. *State v. Trickler*, 106 Wn.App. 727, 734, 25 P.3d 445 (2001). The result should be the same here.

A preponderance of the evidence standard means that considering the evidence, the proposition asserted must be more probably true than not. *State v. Ginn*, 128 Wn.App. 872, 878, 117 P.3d 1155 (2005). Where the State has not taken its burden to prove the misconduct occurred by a preponderance of the evidence, and where the court has failed to conduct *any* analysis on the record as required by ER 404(b), it is reversible error. The remedy is reversal and remand for a new trial. *State v. Smith*, 106 Wn.2d 772, 774, 725 P.2d 951 (1986).

The Court's opinion also held the trial court committed error when it failed to conduct any ER 404(b) analysis for Lloyd's testimony about drug sales by Smith. It also that it was harmless

error, as it did not within reasonable probabilities, affect the outcome of the trial. *Slip Op.* at 19.

Mr. Smith argues that Lloyd's testimony about drugs should not have been admitted as it was clearly unfairly prejudicial. Despite the State's assurances that Lloyd's testimony would be limited to the weapons charge, it brought up in opening argument that Lloyd would testify to the sale of drugs. Lloyd's testimony about owing drug dealers money put Mr. Smith's character in an entirely different light than simple unlawful possession of a firearm and possession of a stolen firearm. Such evidence should not be admitted where "its effect would be to generate heat instead of diffusing light, or ...where the minute peg of relevancy will be entirely obscured by the dirty linen hung upon it." *State v. Goebel,* 36 Wn.2d 367, 379, 218 P.2d 300 (1950).

Mere accusations are generally inadmissible, not only on the basis of ER 404(b), but also because they are highly prejudicial. The unfairly prejudicial characterization as a drug trafficker was especially significant because the State had already dismissed all drug charges before trial even began. The purpose of the rules of evidence is to secure fairness and to ensure that truth is justly determined. *State v. Wade*, 98 Wn.App. 328, 333, 989 P.2d 576

(1998). In this matter, because there was no analysis on the record, and the statements by Lloyd were unfairly prejudicial, the remedy is reversal and remand for a new trial.

B. The Evidence Was Insufficient To Support A Conviction For Possession Of A Stolen Firearm Because The State Did Not Prove The Weapon Was Stolen.

To convict Mr. Smith of possession of a stolen firearm, the State was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that he possessed or was in control of a stolen firearm, knowing it was stolen. RCW 9A.56.320. Because the State could not produce sufficient evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the High Point was stolen, this conviction should be reversed.

Under Washington law, there must be some kind of identification or ownership to establish a baseline that the item is a stolen item. *State v. Morgan,* 3 Wn.App. 470, 475 P.2d 923 (1970) (defendants were arrested shortly after using a knife to rob someone of his watch. Both knife and watch were found on one of the defendants. At trial the victim, codefendant, and arrested officer each identified the items.); *State v. Helms,* 77 Wn.2d 89, 459 P.2d 392 (1969) (Allegedly stolen items, anti freeze, car battery and

car jack, had no significant identifying marks. Owner of the goods established identity of the items, and the exact odd assortment of items was found in the defendant's possession.) *State v. Hayes*, 3 Wn.App. 544, 475 P.2d 885 (1970)(Owner positively identified the item as having been in his room just prior to the burglary. Officer positively identified the item as the one he took from defendant at arrest.). *State v. Withers*, 8 Wn.App. 123, 504 P.2d 1151 (1972)(items were identified by serial numbers against the ship's manifest and found to be among the stolen items. Articles with no identifying markings but which were positively identified were admitted. Evidence not identified was withdrawn by the State.)

Here, the State produced no objective identification that the particular High Point rifle was stolen. It had no serial number to compare, it was found with six other firearms, none of which were identified as having been stolen, there was no police report description of the particular missing rifle, and the owner of the rifle never testified the item belonged to him.

In its opinion, the Court of Appeals found the evidence sufficient to establish it was stolen because there was a police report (not introduced at trial), the weapon that was stolen was stolen in the same city six weeks before Mr. Smith purchased his

rifle. And that the deputy, who was not a firearms expert, testified he had only seen a High Point rifle like that at gun shows and gun shops. And, that the rifle was the only one found in Mr. Smith's vehicle. The existence of a fact cannot rest upon guess, speculation, or conjecture. *State v. Carter*, 5 Wn.App. 802, 490 P.2d 1346 (1971). To support the determination of the existence of a fact, evidence must be substantial enough that it would convince an unprejudiced, thinking mind of the truth of the fact to which it is directed. *State v. Zamora*, 6 Wn.App. 130, 491 P.2d 1342 (1971).

The State did not meet its high burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the item was stolen. *State v. Green,* 94 Wn.2d 216, 220, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). Even taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, the evidence in this case is insufficient.

VI. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts and authorities, Mr. Smith respectfully asks this Court to reverse and dismiss with prejudice his conviction for possession of a stolen firearm. In the alternative, he asks for reversal and remand for a new trial on all charges.