RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Mar 06, 2015, 2:07 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

# IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

## STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

# STEVEN LEE SMITH, Petitioner

# SUPREME COURT NO. 91253-0 COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III NO. 31698-0-III KLICKITAT COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT NO. 13-1-00028-0

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

David Quesnel, WSBA #38579 Prosecuting Attorney

Jessica L. Blye, WSBA #43759 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Klickitat County Prosecuting Attorney 205 S. Columbus Avenue, MS-CH-18 Goldendale, WA 98620 509-773-5838



#

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Steven Lee Smith appealed his April 18, 2013 conviction for possession of a stolen firearm. He challenged the admission of ER 404(b) evidence and the sufficiency of the evidence to support his conviction.

The Court of Appeals held that the trial court's on-record ER 404(b) analysis regarding prior acts involving firearms was insufficient, but that this was not reversible error. *Slip Op.* at 14-15. The Court found the record showed that the trial court adopted the State's arguments as to the purpose of the evidence and the State's weighing of probative value against prejudice, and that this excused the court's failure to state its own explicit findings on the record. *Slip Op.* at 15.

The Court of Appeals found that the trial court failed to analyze the purpose and relevancy or weigh the prejudice of testimony regarding past drug sales of the defendant. *Slip Op.* at 16. However, the Court held that this erroneous admission of evidence was harmless as it did not, within reasonable probabilities, affect the outcome of the trial. *Slip Op.* at 19. The Court found that the improperly admitted evidence unlikely altered the jury's view of the defendant in light of other, properly admitted evidence of a drug transaction. The Court also found that "the State presented strong

admissible evidence that [the defendant] knew he possessed a stolen firearm." *Id*.

The Court of Appeals held that the evidence presented was sufficient for a jury to find beyond a reasonable doubt that the firearm in the defendant's possession was stolen. Slip Op. at 22. In finding the evidence sufficient, the Court referenced officer testimony regarding the distinctiveness of the firearm and that a firearm of the same make and model had been stolen within six weeks of purchase in the same city. Id. The Court referenced the defendant's admission to purchasing the firearm for a low sum of \$50 and four grams of methamphetamine. Slip Op. at 23. The Court also referenced the testimony regarding prior acts that it held to be properly admitted despite the lack of ER 404(b) analysis explicitly conducted by the trial court on the record. Id.

## II. ARGUMENT

Rule of Appellate Procedure ("RAP") 13.4(b) governs the considerations for accepting a Washington State Supreme Court petition for review. These considerations include appellate court decisions that are in conflict with another decision of an appellate court or the Washington State Supreme Court. They also include appellate court decisions that involve a question of constitutional law or an issue of substantial public interest.

This Court should deny the petition for review because none of these considerations are present. The Court of Appeals decision in Smith's case does not conflict with another Court of Appeals or Supreme Court decision and the case does not involve a constitutional law question or issue of substantial public interest.

A. The Court of Appeals decision in this case does not involve a conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals or Supreme Court.

Smith has not specifically identified which prior Supreme Court or Court of Appeals decision(s) it believes this matter is in conflict with, but it does state that the Court of Appeals erred in holding that the lack of explicit ER 403(b) analysis by the trial court was not reversible error.

To admit evidence under the ER 403(b) exception, "the trial court must (1) find by a preponderance of the evidence that the misconduct occurred, (2) identify the purpose for which the evidence is sought to be introduced, (3) determine whether the evidence is relevant to prove an element of the crime charged, and (4) weigh the probative value of the evidence against its prejudicial effect." *State v. Pirtle*, 127 Wash.2d 628, 648-49 (1995). While this full analysis should be conducted on the record, if the record shows that the trial court adopted one of the parties' express arguments, failure to do so is not reversible error. *State v. Asaeli*, 150

Wn.App. 543, 576-77 (2009) (quoting Pirtle, at 650-51; State v. Foxhoven, 161 Wash.2d 168, 175 (2007)).

Smith argues that the Court of Appeals erred in applying these rules to the actions of the trial court, stating that "neither the trial court nor the State addressed the preponderance of the evidence factor" and that failing to do so was not harmless, *Petition* at 6.

However, in the unpublished Court of Appeals opinion, the Court stated that "the trial court ruled and adopted the State's position immediately after hearing argument on the motion in limine" and that this argument included the State reviewing "the authenticity of the evidence." Slip Op. at 15. Additionally, the Court of Appeals quoted from the trial transcript where the trial court stated, when ruling the evidence admissible, "This is all through testimony of a witness, obviously, and the jury will make what they want of that. They're going to test [the witness's] credibility, and we'll have to let them do that." Slip Op. at 6 (quoting RP at 71-72). The trial court stating that the ultimate determination of the witness's credibility would lie with the jury, and ruling in favor of the State after the State reviewed the authenticity of the evidence shows that the trial court did consider the prong of whether the acts occurred. That the trial court's ruling was in favor of the State strongly suggests that it believed that

the acts more likely than not occurred. The Court of Appeals did not err or create a conflicting decision when it found that the trial court considered all necessary factors in analyzing the ER 404(b) testimony and that it was not reversible error to admit the evidence without first explicitly performing the analysis on the record by repeating the State's arguments.

With regards to the sufficiency of the evidence argument, the Smith does not argue that the Court of Appeals decision is in direct conflict with any other decision by the Court of Appeals or Supreme Court. Therefore, this Court should not accept review on that basis.

B. There is no significant constitutional law question or issue of substantial public interest.

Smith has put forth no argument that his case presents a constitutional law question or issue involving a substantial public interest. As this decision regards admission of evidence under ER 404(b), there is no constitutional questions of law at issue, and this Court should not accept review on that basis.

# C. CONCLUSION

This Court accepts review of Court of Appeals decisions that conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals or Supreme Court. It also accepts review of cases involving questions of constitutional law or issues involving a substantial interest to the public. Because none of these

considerations are present, this Court should deny the petition for discretionary review.